
Entertainment in Kirkcaldy                   
Its Theatres and Cinemas 

 
 

Kirkcaldy has enjoyed a long and lengthy relationship with the cinema and, 

prior to that, with the entertainment which theatres provided in the years 

leading up to and beyond 1895. It was in that year that the Lumière brothers 

unveiled the first public screening of their Cinematograph which, in reality, 

was the birth of the true moving picture. The name covers both the camera, 

the projector, and in the Lumière's case even the ability to print film. The 

brothers were adding to and building on the work carried out earlier by 

others – in particular Thomas Edison's Kinetoscope. The Kinetoscope had 

the distinct disadvantage of only being able to be viewed by one person at a 

time through the medium of a peephole  which, it could be argued, was the 

forerunner of a modern viewfinder. 

 

The Lumière brother's apparatus had the major advantage of film being able 

to be projected onto a screen in order that a number of viewers could see the 

images collectively. This was the dawn of mass entertainment at the cinema 

– which Kirkcaldy embraced with a will. 

 

Matters moved on  quickly from 1895 and in April 1896 the first moving 

picture shown in Scotland was screened. This took place in the Empire 

Palace in Edinburgh and The Music Hall and Theatre Review of the 10th 

April reveals it was shown by Howard's Cinematographe. Slowly but surely 

“movies” made their way to Kirkcaldy. In these early days there were no 

purpose built cinemas and normally use was made of established 

entertainment venues which were often hired by travelling entertainers. 

 

The questions this object sets out to answer are how and where were 

Kirkcaldy people entertained before the advent of the cinema and, when it 

arrived, how did it develop? Home entertainment was by far the most 

common with music, singing and party pieces, shaping early communal  

entertainment with friends, neighbours and family. The public house was 

also where many sought 'entertainment' and without question drinking was 

sometimes taken to excess. Kirkcaldy's newspapers reported on a myriad of 

appearances before the town's magistrates which were the consequence of 

overindulgence. There was continual concern over the issues of drinking and 



the fall-out from it with many Abstinence Societies being formed to combat 

the effects. 

 

For many the church formed part of people's social lives as well as their 

religious wellbeing. Any number of societies, clubs and guilds, were 

connected to almost every church with a full calendar of events throughout 

the week. The newspapers covered many clubs and groups where like-

minded people could enjoy relaxation, friendship and exercise, with 

interests ranging from horticulture to lectures to swimming and everything 

in-between. In essence, every entertainment was under the banner of being 

of the live variety. Excitement, engagement and social acceptance, have 

always been the essential characteristics of being entertained and probably 

in that aspect the cinema has  always ruled supreme. 

 

From 1847 with the twin introduction of Michael Nairn's floorcloth industry 

and the coming of the railway, Kirkcaldy became an industrial powerhouse. 

It is difficult today to imagine the sheer scale of manufacturing in the town 

but it led to employment, which led to an expansion of the town and that in 

turn led to a huge increase in the population. The increase was not just down 

to the 1876 expansion of Kirkcaldy by assuming Pathhead, Sinclairtown and 

Linktown, into an extended burgh. People gravitated towards Kirkcaldy to 

seek employment and there was money in the pocket. Theatres started to 

appear to provide entertainment via touring groups, bands, concerts and 

novelty acts – the local newspapers were awash with advertisements to 

secure audiences. These would sit beside the fairs and circuses which  

visited from time to time. 

 

Part of the intention of this Object is to look at communal entertainment in 

the town  with an eye on the part, sometimes modest, which was played in 

developing Kirkcaldy's appetite for the cinema. It is not just about cinema 

but encompasses the more traditional theatres which sprung up in the mid 

20th century thereby creating the town's entertainment industry. 

 

It is a large and substantial story relating how formal entertainment 

developed, which will be mostly examined in chronological order. Rather 

akin to the story of linoleum it is too unwieldy to be contained in one 

narrative – this Object will be produced in two parts 

 

Initially, it examines the traditional theatre – then the gradual  move towards 



combining this live entertainment with the first rays of moving pictures - 

before ending with the purpose built cinema itself. In its heyday Kirkcaldy's 

cinemas did not destroy live entertainment but rather existed alongside it. 

Kirkcaldy has been very fortunate to have many musical societies and 

theatre groups which have kept live entertainment to the fore. 

 

So, exactly  what was on offer in Kirkcaldy's theatres prior to the 

introduction of moving pictures and the arrival of purpose built cinemas. 

Most entertainments of this type and time were performed by travelling 

companies who would visit the town for short spells of one/two weeks. The 

most famous of these travelling shows was Messrs. Poole and their 

Myriorama. From circa 1837 this family business dominated the pre-cinema 

entertainment via Panoramas, Dioramas and the Myriorama. 

 

Each of the above were attempts to give static scenes apparent  movement 

with each being an improvement on its predecessor. Poole apparently first 

brought the name Myriorama into vogue around 1883. It loosely meant a 

myriad of cards and that is exactly what was involved. Large painted scenes 

on canvas were moved across  the stage on rollers – which gave a sense and 

impression of movement. What was very impressive was that the scenes 

were painted  by some of the outstanding scenic artists of the day at a great 

cost. The scenes could depict any subject from battles to landscapes to 

seascapes and proved very popular. It was not until 1897 that the Poole's 

added actual moving pictures to their shows as opposed to the illusion of 

movement through the Cinematographie mentioned earlier. 

 

There was a visit recorded in the Fife Free Press by 

Messrs Poole and Young in its edition of the 6th July 

1872. This was a show produced via a Diorama and 

was held in the Corn Exchange the previous 

Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday. The Diorama 

featured  scenes of Paris and also made mention of 

a late war. This would in all probability  have been 

the Franco-Prussian War which had ended the previous year. “Not 

withstanding its being a first class work of art, it failed to draw a large 

audience. On the other hand an equestrian company who could produce 

nothing very striking, save a procession through the streets, succeeded on 

Thursday evening in drawing a vast concourse of sight seekers together”. 

The article  ended with  the slightly harsh comment of  “As hinted, however, 



the entertainment was nothing great”. 

 

This intelligence was all the more surprising 

as the previous week the same newspaper 

had carried, not just an advertisement, but an 

article quoting the words of critics from its 

London season. The Daily Telegraph was 

quoted as saying:- “The work has an artistic 

value not always connected with 

panoramas”. The Standard believed that “the 

landscapes would take high rank as works of art”. The Daily News believed 

that - “the views are painted in a style of art that may safely challenge a very 

critical judgement”. 

 

The article assured readers that “the exhibition had 

drawn immense assemblages in London and the 

provinces”. Kirkcaldy clearly had very high standards 

in the style and form of the art that was laid before it! 

The advertisement, which is shown here, 

is interesting in itself with two shows per 

day and admission prices ranging 

between 6d and 2/-. Juveniles were 

apparently only paying half price on the 1st and 2nd days. Over 

and above the main entertainment patrons were promised that 

they would enjoy a vocal and instrumental musical melange 

from a number of artists, two of which were - De Prow's 

Trichord Oblique Piano and Alexandre's 14 stop Model 

Harmonium. 

 

A  report of a visit  featuring  a Myriorama was 

unearthed in the Fife Free Press of Saturday the 

30th April 1887. The show was, that day, 

concluding a week's engagement at the Corn 

Exchange. “Nothing so instructive, entertaining 

and amusing, has been seen in Kirkcaldy for some 

time. The panoramic views are excellently finished 

and embrace illustrations of interesting places all the world over. Our recent 

Egyptian and Sudan wars have furnished interesting material for the artists. 

If any of our readers desire to see foreign places to advantage, without 



actually transporting thither in the body, let them visit Poole's Myriorama 

and their store of information will be immensely enlarged, while the 

information will have been derived in the most enjoyable manner”. 

 

Locating the report was followed by a search for the 

advertisement for the entertainment. It was duly located 

in the previous week's edition and is reproduced here. 

The bill heading was Mr J. Poole's Number 2 Jubilee 

Myriorama and entitled Picturesque Trips Abroad. But 

that was not all, just as in 1872, other entertainments 

were also appearing  in the shape of Poole's Excelsior 

Concert Company along with string and military  bands. 

We discover that, along with the bands, Miss Kitty Clara 

rendered a number of songs and a Mr Fairley enlivened proceedings with 

character sketches. A Mr Hartwell acted as the “ Tour Guide” but the most 

intriguing would have been - Our Tiny Bicyclists – small, smaller, smallest 

and smallest in excelsis. 

 

The programme seems to have altered very little in the intervening 15 years. 

Again, there were two performances per day, afternoon and evening, with 

prices ranging from 6d to 1/- then to a top price of 2/-. These remain identical 

to those charged in 1872, bar there was no discount for juveniles this time 

round. 

 

Although the Corn Exchange was not the town's first theatre it is mentioned 

here in order to cover the style of entertainments prior to the advent of film 

itself. The Diorama  and the Myriorama which followed it were the principal 

means of promoting the concept of movement prior to 1895 and the above 

indicates that both styles were known to Kirkcaldy audiences. The Corn 

Exchange will feature in greater detail after we examine what we believe to 

be Kirkcaldy's first theatre. 

 

Before embarking on the story  please keep in mind the impact which the 

1909 Cinematography Act had on the showing of films. The earliest films 

were manufactured using a base compound, cellulose nitrate, which was 

highly inflammable. Illumination was provided by a flame fed by hydrogen 

and oxygen being directed at a canister of calcium oxide. This was all rather 

dangerous and there were several fatal fires. The Act was concerned with 

public safety and the principal requirement was that the projector had to be 



contained in a fire resistant room. Another requirement was that where films 

were screened and an entrance fee charged – the venue had to be inspected 

and licensed by the local authority. The number of fire exits available were 

also of some importance and concern. 

 

These measures led to many venues no longer offering screenings and 

without question gave rise to the construction of purpose built cinemas. 

Kirkcaldy had to wait until 1913 before one of these appeared. 

 

        The Royal/The Grand 

 

There is a quiet confidence  that  The Royal  can claim the title of being 

Kirkcaldy's first theatre. It was housed in part of a flax mill, once owned by 

Swan Brothers in Kirk Wynd. In its 

current guise it is the Hunter Hall 

although through the years it has been 

much changed, primarily as the result 

of a fire in 1889. A map highlighting 

its location is included here. There is 

one publication which suggests that 

the theatre was in the old Burgh 

School in Kirk Wynd. Given that building survived into the 20th century we 

believe that the site we quote is  the correct one. 

 

The Fifeshire Herald of the 20th October 

1859 devotes space to advising that the 

previous Saturday the theatre opened for 

the season. There is a suggestion in some 

quarters that it dated back to the 1830s but 

it can be stated confidently that in 1859 it 

was under the management of Mr J.G. Day 

and handbills indicated that the season 

would feature a  “talented company, new wardrobes, scenery and 

appointments”. While the article could not speak for the ability of the 

players – it was in Mr Day's interest to secure a good staff of actors. A Mr 

Lambert was mentioned as being “favourably known under previous 

management”. 

 

While not taking place in the theatre itself the Fifeshire Journal of the 4th 



March the previous year makes 

mention  of four successive nights of 

entertainment in Markinch given by 

Mr Somers and a number of his 

talented company from the Kirkcaldy 

Theatre. The stage was apparently 

tastefully set up as a drawing room and the audience was “large and 

respectable”. The same newspaper reported in its issue of the 8th April  1858 

that the company had performed in the Gardener's Hall in Leven. The article 

makes us aware of three of the players, Miss Batson, Mr Davis, and the 

aforementioned Mr Lambert, who “are a great attraction and play to 

crowded houses”. 

 

It would seem that Mr Day did not stay long in Kirkcaldy  as the Dundee 

Peoples Journal covered a court case in its edition of the 21st July 1860. Here, 

a Mr Frimberley was suing Mr Day for £3:8s:6d which was in respect of 

unpaid wages when he was employed by Mr Day in the Kirkcaldy Theatre. 

These snippets are the earliest it was possible to identify so the theatre was 

certainly in operation in the 1850s but there appears to be nothing to 

substantiate the claim to being in existence two decades earlier. 

 

What can be said however is that there were indeed some eminent 

individuals who gave the theatre their patronage. The Caledonian Mercury 

of the 3rd April 1860 reveals that the  tragic actress, Miss Goddard, had 

appeared for 5 nights during the previous week. On the Tuesday night Lady 

Harriet St. Clair had given her patronage and, on the Friday, Provost Russell  

was in the audience. The Manager of the time Mr J. F. Lambert had 

immediately engaged the actress to visit other towns and cities to play 6 of 

her characters. Mr Lambert is very possibly the player mentioned earlier and 

in all probability is the same Lambert who was connected to a Dundee 

theatre. 

 

However, the theatre went into decline and the 

North Briton of  Wednesday the 5th October 

1864 attested to the situation. The theatre had 

fallen into disrepute and the newspaper was 

concerned when Frank Alderson and his 

respectable and talented company hired the 

venue. While business was not first class it 



was better than expected for some weeks. However, the numbers fell off 

once again until what the article termed as being reduced to “a few boys in 

the gallery; a wretched pit and a beggarly account of empty boxes”. The cry 

was for a price reduction but Mr Alderson would not yield and refused to 

give the threepenny gallery. The crisis came when Miss Goddard made her 

return which resulted in “worse business than before”. One performance had 

such a scanty audience that it was brought to a halt. On the final evening 

Alderson refused to open the doors on what was billed as a farewell show. 

It was calculated that 800 people had turned up and were not given access. 

The article concluded with “in conclusion we would advise any managers 

wishing to speculate their money in Kirkcaldy, to abstain from performing 

the legitimate drama, but rather to provide something more akin to the 

“Punch and Judy” school; then there is every likelihood of obtaining a 

considerable number of pennies from the boys, the only true and steadfast 

patrons of the Theatre Royal, Kirkcaldy. 

 

It is fair to say that for the decade from the mid 

1860s until the mid 1870s and beyond the theatre 

was in sharp decline and was only being used 

intermittently for its true purpose. It was also used 

for meetings and in 1870 had a lengthy spell as a 

place of evangelism. This was gleaned from the 

Fifeshire Advertiser  of the 26th March 1870. They 

made mention that “suddenly a somewhat 

extraordinary change having been embarked  upon 

with new lease of life as a place of worship”. 

 

The fact that religious services were to be held saw some 500/600 people 

appearing for the first Sunday service. They had been alerted from the town's 

pulpits that the event was taking place. A combination of lay evangelists, the 

Rev. Thomson from Kirkcaldy Free Church and a missionary from Canada 

were the principal figures. The article indicated that the service was of a 

“deeply interesting and impressive nature”. Running throughout that week 

some 300 persons attended each night. It seems that the enterprise lasted 

some 6 months in total. 

  

The 16th October 1875 saw the Fife Free 

Press make mention of the Royal opening 

for the season. In a less that 



complimentary article readers were told that “this place of amusement of a 

certain type was opened for the season last night”. While there was a large 

audience the 'star' failed to turn up so there was no entertainment. The 

audience had to file out demanding their money back or tickets  for the next 

performance. Not the most satisfactory start! 

 

By 1878 the lessee was W.S.Winn and the 

Fifeshire Advertiser of the 14th September 

was able to announce that that very 

evening a new and original drama – The 

Four Knaves and the Pack would be 

taking place. The evening would conclude 

with the Celebrated Burlesque of Tam 

O'Shanter with music, songs etc. On the 

following Monday to Wednesday the 

feature was Jo, The Crossing Sweeper. The 

doors would open at 7.30pm with 

performances commencing 30 minutes later. Boxes cost 2/- or 1/- with the 

pit 6d and the gallery offered the cheapest option at 3d. The Directress was 

noted as Miss Emma Richmond. 

 

Scanning the local newspapers of the time there is an obvious paucity of 

items connected with the theatre. This is probably as we shall see connected 

to the opening of the Corn 

Exchange. What was unearthed 

is an attempt to let the building 

contained in the Fife Free Press 

of the 25th June 1885. The 

advertisement is attached for 

interest. The ground mentioned 

in Hill Place is unconnected to 

the theatre – it is simply another 

piece of land being offered for 

sale. What remains a mystery is the connection to the theatre to Mrs Forbes 

of 291 High Street who placed the advertisement which ran for a substantial 

period of time. 

 

There was certainly excitement reported in the Fife Herald on the 28th 

December 1889 when we find that the lessee is now a local plumber – John 



Torrance. He in turn had sublet the theatre to Forrest 

Knowles and Howard Campbell. The agreement was 

that they open for a winter season on the 17th October 

at an agreed figure of £6 per week. The agreement 

contained a proviso that if the arrears exceeded £12 

then the agreement was  considered broken. The arrears 

reached £19 and Torrance sought the court to have 

Campbell and Knowles ejected. They counterclaimed 

that they had reached an agreement on the 14th 

December that for the first week b of the year they 

would pay Torrance £4 per day so that the arrears would 

be extinguished after 6 days. They could not prove the agreement existed 

and were removed. 

 

By 1888 the sole lessee had become one 

George Clark who gave his address as 51 

Market Street. Advertisements appeared in 

some of the stage/variety newspapers with Mr 

Clark  seeking first class companies, concert 

parties, dioramas and other novelty acts. This 

advert from the 10th September includes a 

testimonial from a previous company 

complimenting Mr Clark on the excellent 

manner in which he ran the theatre. What is noticeable is that the name has 

altered from the Theatre Royal to the Grand Theatre – presumably the work 

of Clark. 

 

However, matters move on apace when we reach December of 1888. The 

Era of the 1st December shows Clark still advertising for acts and the last 

booking which it was possible to trace was in 

the Fifeshire Advertiser of the 7th December 

1888. This could almost be 2024 as the 

advertisement was for Professor J.B. Keswick 

and his wife of the Scarborough Hydropathic 

Establishment. A series of lectures on Mental 

Science and Health. The first lecture that 

night was titled Man and his Sexual Relations. 

The whole series appeared to be on related 

subjects with some for men only and others 



for ladies only. It would seem that consultations were also on offer and an 

office in the town buildings had been secured for that purpose. 

 

The following week the same newspaper reported that:- ”the audience, on 

the whole, were good, and appeared to appreciate not only the lecture but 

the professor's phrenological  delineations”. 

 

As the year drew to an end on the 

night of the 29th/30th January the  

building caught fire and was totally 

destroyed. The police acted quickly 

and four men were arrested and 

charged with arson. Kirkcaldy 

buildings going on fire even then!!! 

They were John Torrance, Andrew 

Torrance, George Clark and an 

ironmonger, David Wilson, from 

Auchtermuchty. The police had 

established that a barrel of paraffin  had been purchased and carried to the 

theatre. 

 

The case was held in Dundee and the Fifeshire Advertiser of the 5th April 

1889 carried the report. Wilson was not on the charge sheet – only Clark and 

the two Torrance's. It transpires John was the father and Andrew his son. 

The charge was wilful fire-raising in an attempt to defraud the Federal 

Insurance Company of £700. John and Andrew pled  guilty while Clark 

produced evidence that 

he was in Edinburgh at 

the time of the fire. This 

was accepted and he was 

dismissed. It transpires 

that John Torrance had 

fitted out the sets for 

Knowles and Campbell 

and that placed his firm 

in the position of 

creditors. When the venture failed he became the Trustee under a Trust Deed 

on behalf of the creditors. He tried to carry on with the Theatre under his 

own direction but failed in that venture. The only assets of the Trust Deed 



were the “fittings, apparatus etc”. 

It would seem  that the insurance 

cover was raised from £300 to 

£700 prior to the fire. John 

Torrance was sent to jail for 5 years 

while his son suffered 9 months 

imprisonment. It was said that 

Torrance was a respectable businessman and his actions were a major 

surprise. Clark however returned to Kirkcaldy from Dundee that same night 

and was “met by many friends at the station, who gave him a hearty cheer”. 

 

The Theatre was actually owned by John Hunter of St Brycedale and he had 

the building rebuilt as the Hunter Hall and handed it over to the Parish 

Church. It remains in use to this day. 

 

If we accept that this is Kirkcaldy's oldest theatre then as it closed in 1888 – 

then its images would have been the older form of perceived movement 

along with magic lantern shows. It did not survive long enough to see the 

advent of true motion pictures – never mind the talkies! That said it was  

Kirkcaldy's first entertainment venue and is still used by the Auld Kirk 

Players for their performances to this day. 

 

        The Corn Exchange/The Pavilion 

 

Kirkcaldy's second Corn Exchange stood from 

1860 until 1956. Built primarily for the 

agricultural fraternity it became a multi-purpose 

venue  serving the town in many ways during its 

close to 100 year existence. It is the Caledonian 

Mercury which provides one of the reports of the 

building's opening which took place on Saturday 

the 31st December 1859. 

 

The ceremony took place on the Saturday afternoon with Provost Birrell 

presiding. The audience contained a number of important personages 

including J.H.E. Wemyss M.P., Mr R.S. Aytoun of Inchdairnie, George 

Beveridge, a manufacturer, and Mr S. Davidson, a banker, who rose in time 

to become Provost of the Burgh. Perhaps the list of apologies is even more 

impressive – Colonel Ferguson, M.P., Lord Loughborough, Sir John 



Melville, Mr Balfour of Balbirnie and Captain Oswald of Dunnikier. 

 

The Chairman's opening remarks reveal that the building was replacing an 

earlier one built some 30 years before. Quite simply, the amount of corn now 

being grown in the area had made that original building unfit for purpose. 

“The new hall could accommodate 1,500 persons and as well as its main 

function is  expected to be used for public meetings, concerts and soirees”. 

As well as the main hall a suite of small rooms ran up the right hand side 

which were “fitted with every convenience”. The building was owned by 

the Town Council and had cost circa £2,500 – of which £2,000 had been lent 

to the Council at a low rate of interest. The foundations had been laid in the 

month of May, with full masonic solemnities, and built to an architectural 

design prepared by a Mr Hay. All reports of the occasion make reference to 

the fact that Provost Birrell “was the energetic promoter” and indeed in his 

own remarks he made mention that “this was a proud day for himself, who 

had laboured long and earnestly in this project”. 

 

From time to time mention has been made in these Objects of the number of 

toasts which were drunk on these civic occasions. This was no exception 

with some being listed below. 

 

• Loyal and Patriotic Toast. 

• Success and Prosperity to the new Corn Exchange. 

• The Clergy of all Denominations 

• Both Houses of Parliament. 

• Our Educational Institutions. 

• Our National Volunteers, Artillery and Riflemen. 

 

It is always difficult to imagine that the participants would be able to walk 

to their carriages unaided at the conclusion of these events. 

 

The Fife Herald of the 1st March 1860 

gives the first glimpse of a panorama 

appearing in the hall. It is Sinclair's 

Panorama who are to appear the 

following Monday having been in 

Cupar during this present week. The 

paintings are on canvas and “greatly 

surpass anything seen previously”. There are two sections with the first 



dealing with the Crimean War. Canvasses include:- 

 

• The battles of Alma and Inkerman. 

• The Light Brigade Charge at Balaclava. 

•  The fall of Sebastopol, etc. 

 

The  segment which followed dealt with India and in particular the mutiny 

and included:- 

 

• Well known scenes of the Revolt. 

• General Havelock at Fallehpole. 

• The taking of Delhi. 

• The siege of Lucknow. 

 

The paintings were supported by a lecturer “giving a brief and graphic 

description of each scene and from time to time bursting into an appropriate 

song in an excellent voice”. 

 

The following is intended to provide a small 

snapshot of what was on offer through the 

decades starting with an advertisement for the 

Annual Assembly of the 7th Fifeshire Rifle 

Volunteers. This was taken from the Fife Free 

Press of the 22nd February 1873. It would seem 

that this may well have been a gentlemen only 

function. 

 

On the 1st November 1873, the same newspaper 

carried a political notice from Mr Oswald of 

Dunnikier advertising his wish to meet the electorate. 

This is a Westminster campaign as the various centres 

mentioned were included in the Kirkcaldy Burghs 

Constituency. The eastern side of the Constituency, 

Buckhaven, Methil and Innerleven, were seemingly 

being left for another day. John T. Oswald was the 

Conservative candidate but mustered only 1,228 

votes, while the Liberal, Robert Reid, secured 1,967. 

Sadly, Reid died in 1875. 

 



Interestingly, an advertisement for R. Deas – 

a joiner was stumbled upon. It is of interest as 

Deas was operating from the previous Corn 

Exchange, now referred to as the Old Corn 

Exchange. It seems his speciality was gutting 

and repairing old houses. This advertisement 

is also from the Fife Free Press and is taken 

from the edition of 14th July 1877. 

 

For those who enjoy music then the Fife Free Press of the 

21st January 1882 carried two advertisements of interest. 

On the 9th February, the Kirkcaldy Music Society was 

staging Haydn's oratorio “The Creation”. While more 

details would appear in future issues what was revealed  

was that the chorus and orchestra would consist of 120 

performers. 

 

Hot on the heels of that function a Grand Evening Assembly was 

scheduled for the 10th February – again under the auspices of the 

Society. Mention is only made of Gentlemen's tickets which were 

priced at what is now 50p. 

 

The Fife Free Press of the 20th October 1883 is not untypical 

in its advertisements for the Corn Exchange. A cluster of 

these give an indication of the mix of local and touring 

groups who made use of the facility. On that very day the 

Parish Church is holding a Bazaar with the specific purpose 

of the Erection of an Organ and other Church Improvements. 

In addition to the bazaar there are entertainments in the shape 

of vocal and instrumental music with the Trade's Band also 

in attendance. There is also on offer what is described as a 

Comedietta (a light farcical comedy apparently) which goes 

under the title of Man Proposes. 

 

On the 22nd and 23rd, for two nights only, Mr C. 

Bernard's Comic Opera Company provide the 

entertainment with a production of Billee Taylor. A 

reserved seat can be had for what is now 20p and the 

prices for other seating range from 5p to 15p. It seems 



that there are a few admissions at 2½p. The tickets can be purchased at a 

local bookseller where a floor plan is available. 

 

On the 25th, 26th and 27th we are back to local fare with 

the Kirkcaldy Amateur Dramatic Society. On the 25th 

they are staging Murder at the Roadside Inn and on the 

following nights the feature is Octoroon. Each evening, 

after  the main event, a farce is being performed. Once 

again tickets are available at local booksellers but there 

is no mention of the price. 

 

On the 1st - 3rd November, it is back to a touring 

company taking centre stage with an appearance by 

Tannaker's New Grand Japanese Entertainment. 

The prospective audience is told to expect new 

artists and new feats. Another incentive to attend   

the show is that each visitor will receive a nice 

Japanese present! There does seem to be a wee issue 

with geography as the show is billed as:- “a farewell 

visit to Fife” – however, they are shortly to appear 

in both Burntisland and Dunfermline! 

 

In 1889 The Freedom of the Burgh was presented to the Marquis of Dufferin 

and Ava in the Corn Exchange. We covered all these ceremonies in Object 

11. Difficult to understand the reason behind this award – could the fact he 

was the son-in-law of the Provost Ronald Munro- Ferguson be the reason? 

 

The new century sees Frame's Vaudeville 

Company make an appearance on the 24th October 

at 8.00pm. The Fife Free Press advertisement 

reveals that John Clyde will play Rob Roy 

McGregor with Frame himself playing Baillie 

Nicol Jarvie. The notice assures us that 

the performances were an outstanding 

success in Edinburgh. 

 

On Saturday the 11th January 1908 the Fife Free Press  tells us 

the Corn Exchange are offering A Pictorial Carnival – thanks to 

the Scotch-Canadian Picture Company. The films on offer are 



The Clockmaker's Secret and The Poor Little Orphan. The former is “full of 

the grandest magical scenes ever produced” with the latter – “a most 

touching and very pathetic story”. Variety has not been excluded as “Mr Jack 

Marson, the great Scottish humorist, has also been engaged”. 

 

The following year, 1909, the Corn Exchange 

entertainments are operating as the Corn Exchange 

Pavilion and it is generally accepted that 1909 

brings about the commencement of regular 

showings of films in the Exchange. As mentioned 

earlier 1909 brought licensing to cinemas and the 

Corn Exchange/Pavilion benefited from a greater 

number of fire escapes being installed. The advert 

shown here reveals that the licensee is a Dr Walford 

Brodie and his manager is George Lee. This advert 

from the Fife Free Press of the 9th October reveals 

that the Safety Bioscope Company of London have 

been engaged and are showing a range of animated 

pictures. Added to the advert is a reminder that 

when Raith Rovers are playing away from home – a telegram will be 

received giving the score which will then be shown on the screen. 

 

The fact that the Pavilion was still a crossover 

between cinema and Theatre can be seen from this 

advertisement from the Fife Free Press of the 10th 

October 1914 where  players are live on stage 

performing comedy sketches and A night w' 

Burns. However, later in the week on the 15th, 16th 

and 17th – the usual all star picture programme saw 

the film The Man who Carries the Gun. being 

shown. 

 

The Fifeshire Advertiser of the 7th August 1915 reveals that the Pavilion is 

about to be reopened on the 16th August after extensive alterations and 

refurbishment. 

 

This same style of mixing the types of entertainment is demonstrated again 

in the Fife Free Press on the 23rd October 1915. The Land of the Otter 

features on the Monday – Wednesday with the Thursday – Saturday 



featuring episode 8 of the great transatlantic serial – 

The Black Box. Alongside the films are three variety 

turns one of which is a male impersonator, Flo Dixie 

– billed as the Scottish Vesta Tilley. It is clear that 

whatever the alterations made in 1915 were – the 

Pavilion was not exclusively for cinema purposes. 

 

The Fife Free Press of the 2nd September 1916 carried 

an advert which claimed that this was 'The Popular 

Family House' which 

was clean, clear and 

comfortable, showing 

the most perfectly projected pictures in 

Kirkcaldy. Always happy to go up any tangent 

the two offerings were checked. It transpires 

that The Fatal Stroke was a Dutch film from 

1915 – not that that really matters in the days 

of silent films! The Great Stroke was a 1914 

film which seems to surround the repercussions of an uncle refusing to 

continue paying off his nephew's gambling debts. Both films are over 100 

years old yet the internet still comes to the rescue! 

 

So just what was the fate of the Pavilion – 

which suddenly seemed to vanish from all 

advertisements. Research led to the Fife Free 

Press of the 19th April 1924. Here was 

displayed an item which is reproduced here. 

The owners Kirkcaldy Town Council are 

willing to sell or lease the property which until 

two years previously had been a cinema. The 

plain fact is the property had been the subject 

of a fire. The Council wanted to know from 

those who may wish to lease what the plans would be to restore the building 

and what rent they would offer. If a purchase was sought, the Council asked 

what price they would be prepared to pay. One thing was certain and that 

was it was being leased or sold - “As it stood”. 

 

Further research was proving difficult until the  Kinematograph Weekly of 

the 7th April 1921 provided the answer. The Corn Exchange or Pavilion 



Cinema had burnt down over the 

night of the 31st March / 1st April 

1921. The fire had been discovered 

at 5.45am although the flames had 

already taken a strong hold. Fire and 

water damage amounted to £3,000. 

The Fire Brigade's first task was to 

try and remove the films in which 

task they were successful. By 

9.00am the fire had been subdued 

but the gallery was gone as was most 

of the floor. The roof was described as a long gaping hole surrounded by a 

few slates. The stage had been mostly saved but it was doubted if the piano 

or projectors would be fit for further use. The Town Council were the owners 

while the lessee was given as The Scottish Cinemas and Variety Ltd of 

Glasgow. The cause of the fire was put down to a cigarette smouldering in 

the gallery. The insurance company paid out £3,000 which was paid into the 

town's Common Good Fund. 

 

As the report  indicated all had seemed well with the building when it closed 

the previous night so a little more research was called for. The Fife Free 

Press of the 26th March 1921 

carried an advertisement for what 

would be the last film shown in 

the Pavilion – the main feature 

was Beauty to Let with a 

supporting episode  of The 

Adventures of Shorty Hamilton. 

These films of the 'episode variety' 

were a great way of ensuring 

patrons returned the following week to view the next thrilling episode. It 

would seem that these were the last two screenings to have taken place in 

the venue. 

 

The building was taken over by A & R Forrester who 

specialised in bus tours. They operated from the Corn 

Exchange and organised outings. In 1927 on September 

the 9th for 17/6d – 87½p – you could attend the Braemar 

Highland Gathering – assuming you were up for the 



leaving time of 6.00am. The building was demolished in 1956 but certainly 

served Kirkcaldy well during its lifetime. So while we have traced the site 

of the first film shows – it certainly did not survive to accommodate a talkie. 

 

 

The Allied Theatre 

 

This one appeared out of nowhere and while it was not longstanding was 

very successful – as the audience numbers testify. 

 

Apparently Allied's success had an 

effect on the Council's own Corn 

Exchange patronage, much to their 

consternation. It appeared in late 1883 

and was gone by Spring the following 

year – but it made a splash! The 

starting point is a meeting of the Town 

Council in late November 1883  which 

was reported on by the Fife Free Press 

on the 1st December. 

 

Treasurer Young was asking how long Mr Duckenfield's theatre is to be 

allowed to remain - “as it is interfering 

with the income of the Corn Exchange, 

which is a serious matter for the Council”. 

It transpires that a request had been 

received from Mr Duckenfield, the owner 

of a travelling theatre, seeking to rent the 

Victoria Battery ground for use as a 

theatre. 

 

With it being Winter the  Artillery Volunteers did not use the site. The 

Council had referred the matter to Superintendent Walker of the Burgh 

Police Force. He in turn had granted the use of the site. However, this was 

no ordinary marquee and one which could hardly be considered portable -  

in fact, it was of a wooden construction which took over two weeks to erect 

and it was even connected to the gas mains. The venture was so successful 

that crowds of 700 each night seems to be the minimum and it was reported 

that on several occasions this rose to 1,000. 



 

It is obvious that the Council had not expected such a success and it was a 

double edged sword – in a positive manner it was bringing entertainment to 

the town but, on the negative side, it seemed to be harming the Corn 

Exchange audience numbers. On the other hand Councillors believed that it 

was emptying public houses – which they considered a positive. The police 

could find no fault with the theatre as there had been no complaints of poor 

behaviour. It was apparently 

being well managed and it 

appears that Mr Duckenfield was 

given to denouncing the evils of 

drink on a Sunday. So, the 

Council were in a quandary. 

They had agreed to the let and the 

Allied was a huge success with it 

being said  that, as the theatre 

filled, the pubs emptied. That 

was a positive for the Council but 

of course there had to be a 

negative which was that the takings at the Corn Exchange  were falling off 

and some acts were even refusing to appear given this competition. The 

Council wrestled with the conundrum of was it a portable theatre or not? 

Could they force an eviction on that basis? Common sense prevailed and the 

Council did not give notice to leave – what they did was double the rent 

from the 15 shillings (75p) and this compromise was acceptable to both 

parties. 

 

There can be no doubt that this Theatre 

was a major success and all the 

advertisements spoke of its continuing 

success. The Fife Free Press of the 2nd 

February 1884 gives an example of 

clever publicity from the said Mr 

Duckenfield. The previous evening a 

grand concert and ball were held in the 

Corn Exchange. The purpose was to raise 

funds to clear the outstanding debt for 

new uniforms incurred by Dunnikier Band. Mr Duckenfield acted as 

compere and he also closed his theatre for the night to prevent it being 



competition. The performers were local ladies and gentlemen but were given 

assistance by members of Mr Duckenfield's company. At the close 

Duckenfield thanked the large company for attending and wished the 

Dunnikier Band every success in reaching the fund's target. The hall was 

then cleared for dancing which went on well into the morning. 

 

It was back to drama when the Fife 

Free Press of the 23rd February 

carried an advertisement for that 

evening and for that night only. The 

doors opened at 7.00pm for the 

7.30pm start of the  great drama – The 

Ocean of Life. The admission charges 

are 1/-, 6d and 3d. Hard to imagine a 

significant and substantial temporary theatre was playing to 700 people just 

outside the Volunteers Green. It would now be in the middle of the 

Esplanade traffic. 

 

The Fifeshire Advertiser of the 

22nd March revealed that the 

company had left on the expiry of 

their lease and were heading for 

Arbroath. The article was 

surprised that such a substantial 

erection had been allowed to stand 

for such a lengthy period. Gentle 

fun was poked at the Council over 

their dithering as to whether the 

lease be cut short to defend the Corn Exchange, or should it even be 

lengthened  to take advantage of the increased site rental? “As the weeks  

passed that issue did not prevent Magistrates and Councillors from publicly 

testifying to the character of the place and the entertainment provided”. On 

the Monday before leaving, Mr Duckenfield entertained his company and a 

few friends in the National Hotel where excellent fare was provided by the 

licensee, Mr Reekie. In reality the lease had to finish as, with the advent of 

Spring, the Garrison of Artillery Volunteers again required the use of the site 

for their battery. 

 



In some respects Mr Duckenfield 

was fortunate to be able to leave. 

As the Fife Free Press had 

reported on the 9th February he had 

managed to swallow a threepence 

piece which he had been holding in 

his mouth. It stuck fast in his 

windpipe and could not be 

dislodged. The next day a journey 

to Edinburgh Royal Infirmary was 

required – where the necessary implement removed the obstruction. That 

was the medical reality at the time if you lived in Kirkcaldy. 

 

 

    The Adam Smith Halls 

 
Without a shadow of doubt this is Kirkcaldy's most enduring theatre and is 

another which owes a debt of gratitude to the late Michael Beveridge. While 

the Beveridge Park is known as being the gift of Provost Beveridge – the 

part he played in ensuring that the halls came into being is not quite so 

readily known. The story of the planning and execution of the hall was told 

in Object 11 and it serves very little purpose in recounting it here. However 

a brief outline will not go amiss. 

 

When Michael Beveridge was elected Provost of Kirkcaldy he realised that 

the centenary of the death of Adam Smith would fall during his term of 

stewardship. In the intervening century nothing tangible had been done to 

recognise the man generally regarded as Kirkcaldy's most famous son. 

 

Beveridge saw this as an opportunity to correct this omission and he had a 

grander plan than a simple local monument. His ambition was to create what 

would amount to a national  memorial. He held a private meeting with 

influential local figures in April of 1889 before embarking on a public 

meeting in the June of the same year. Without question there was an appetite 

to recognise Smith and a committee was formed to both plan and raise the 

necessary funds. The early death of Michael Beveridge certainly did not 

help the cause but before his death it had been determined that the memorial 

should be more than a mere statue. It was agreed that a purpose built  public 

hall would be a fitting tribute to Smith. From the genesis of the plan in 1889 



it took a full 10 years to fulfil,  prior to the official opening by Andrew 

Carnegie on the 14th October 1899. The opening ceremony was followed by 

a Cake and Wine buffet in the Beveridge Hall where Andrew Carnegie was 

presented with the Freedom of the Burgh. 

 

The venue was also used to host the final two Freedoms of the Burgh granted 

by Kirkcaldy Town Council. In January 1946, the award was made to Joseph 

Westwood – the Secretary of State for Scotland and Sir Michael Nairn. 

Object 11 recounted all the awards but only Nairn and Sandford Fleming 

were native to the town. 

 

A significant part of Beveridge's  £50,000 bequest was used to help fund the 

cost of the complex and part of the building was named after Michael 

Beveridge as a tribute. The hall could be described as having three main 

parts – the Adam Smith Hall itself which was capable of sitting 1,660 people, 

a smaller Beveridge Hall, and probably equally important a Lending and 

Reference Library which also carried Beveridge's name. A beautiful 

building with a high wall surrounding it – the building spoke of Kirkcaldy's 

increasing affluence on the back of its industry. A truly magnificent complex 

showing the increase in prosperity which began with the coming of the 

railway and Michael Nairn's foresight. Beveridge himself made a fortune 

from his involvement in the linoleum industry. 

 

From the off this was altogether a theatre destined to provide quality 

programmes and artists. It was not really a home for variety or vaudeville 

acts. Those tended to remain in the Corn Exchange. Surprisingly the theatre 

was not equipped with an organ but this was remedied in 1901 by way of a 

gift from Andrew Carnegie. 

 

The Fife Free Press of the 30th September 

1899 carried an advertisement for a Grand 

Concert in aid of the Saturday Lifeboat 

Fund. This was to take place in the Adam 

Smith Hall on the 14th September. This was 

of course the concert to celebrate the 

opening of the halls earlier in the day. 

 

The Fife Free Press of the 4th November 1899 carried an advertisement for 



'The Gondoliers' being performed on the 16th, 17th and 18th by 

the Kirkcaldy Musical Society. While it is an extensive advert 

it is well worth reproducing here. Special trains were being 

laid on from all over Fife and the breadth of establishments 

where tickets could be purchased is quite 

amazing. It goes to show just how significant 

an attraction the new theatre was. Beveridge's 

vision was certainly paying dividends and it 

is fair to say that that has continued to this 

day. 

 

The Council were certainly pushing their theatre forward as 

can be seen from an advertisement in The Stage of the 28th December 1899. 

No less a figure of Victorian decorum than the erstwhile Town Clerk, 

William L. MacIndoe, is promoting the 

town and its new theatre. It is interesting 

to note that the advertisement claims 

that there is no theatre in the town – 

possibly a bit unfair on the Corn 

Exchange which has been doing sterling work for a number of decades. It 

would seem that the advertisement was carried each week for the month of 

December. Both the Adam Smith Hall and The Corn Exchange were in the 

Council's hands – private enterprise in  Kirkcaldy's entertainment venues 

would have to wait for the new century. 

 

One of the regular features of the Hall's programme 

was the running of Saturday Evening Concerts 

under the auspices of the Town Council. This 

advertisement from the Fife Free Press of the 25th 

November 1899 gives an idea of a typical 

entertainment. The advertisement shows that the 

Council are taking matters seriously as, one of their 

own, Councillor Orr was presiding or could it be 

comparing? This was not unusual as Councillor 

Lockhart was also much in evidence in these 

Council concerts. There seems to be a mixture of 

music and sketches this week. What is interesting is 

the footnote is that the venue for this event is the 

Halls and not the Corn Exchange as previously advertised. 



 

Mention  had been made above of the 'Kirkcaldy Musical 

Society' and their production of the 'Gondoliers'. That 

same edition of the Fife Free Press on the 16th December 

1899 carried an advertisement for a production of the 

“Sensational American Drama “The Octoroon” being 

produced by the 'Kirkcaldy Amateur Dramatic Club' 

between the 20th and 23rd December. The list of the great 

and the good who were patrons of the club had to be 

included here if only for interest. It would appear that the 

Octoroon was first produced in 1859 and was an anti-

slavery play. To modern eyes the portion of the advert 

listing Coon songs by Winnie and Bessie 

from the Pavilion Theatre Edinburgh is 

beyond belief. 

 

Saturday the 27th January 1900 sees an advertisement carried 

by the Fife Free Press which is of great interest. The first part 

carried information on the Saturday Evening Entertainments 

in the form of a Burns Concert. The advertisement, which 

was for that night, shows an array of 'First Class Entertainers'  

although only one is listed as being local. 

 

Directly below is the announcement that Poole's Myriorama is 

appearing in the hall from Monday the 19th for 6 days. To avoid 

the crush we are advised that patrons should arrive early and 

we can see that the most expensive seat in the new venue is 2/- 

or 10p. The advert assures us that the programme is a 

revelation of  startling and pleasing delights. While the show 

covers much of South Africa the centrepiece is without 

question the Boer War. Moving pictures of a variety has 

arrived in the Hall! Part of the advert showing 

some of the acts under the direction and 

management of Mr Poole are listed – they 

evidence Variety is not dead! 

 

Evidence that true moving pictures had arrived 

is shown in an item carried by the Fife Free 

Press on the 14th September 1901. Kirkcaldy 



was to receive a visit on the 26th, 27th and 28th by Walker & Company's World 

Famous Cinematograph. We are told that they were eight times engaged to 

appear by Royal Command at Balmoral Castle. The programme consisted 

of a Royal Tour to the Colonies and various other scenes which included 

“many lands – great naval and military spectacles – science – mystery – 

magic and fun. 

 

What was of immense interest was that a number of short films had been 

shot locally and included – an inspection of the local volunteers from the 

Black Watch showing the full battalion on the march. Also included was a 

lengthy piece showing the employees leaving Mackintosh's furniture works 

plus what was termed Kirkcaldy Schools. If only these were still in existence! 

 

It would seem that Walkers had their staple offering but then cleverly 

augmented it with local scenes – which would attract an audience of those 

who might be featured. We tried to do a little more research and a site “The 

Theatres and Cinemas of Dunfermline & Rosyth”  was on considerable help. 

It is an excellent site and the research must have been lengthy and 

painstaking. It reveals that Kirkcaldy beat Dunfermline to the punch with 

Walkers as they only arrived in Dunfermline in the October;- 

“Cinema projection in this area began as early as 1901, when in October, 

Walker and Co's cinematograph visited Dunfermline for 3 days. A number 

of local films were exhibited for the first time such as footage of the 

inspection of Fifeshire Volunteers at Ladybank, pupils and teachers leaving 

Dunfermline and Queen Anne High Schools, plus workers of Erskine 

Beveridge and Co. leaving their factory. The Town Band leaving for an 

excursion to Aberdeen was also included”. Walker's advertised that their 

films exceeded anything in length and brightness than had 

previously been seen. 

 

Hot on the heels of Walker's appearance we find that the 

Corporation's Saturday Evening Concerts were also showing 

films. The Fife Free Press advertisement for Saturday 7th 

December 1901 revealed that Chalmers' Cinematograph had been 

engaged. The audience were promised humorous and historical 

pictures plus a sensational film – The History of Crime. 

 

The event  was not restricted to film and a number of singers and musicians 

not to mention a comedian. Mr J.A. Freeman is at the piano and  we would 



assume that he would be accompanying the film. The spread and popularity 

of film is really quite extraordinary in the few short years since 1895. 

 

We can see that the Hall quickly embraced  moving pictures almost from the 

beginning. Even the most casual glance at the advertisements shows that 

over the decades The Adam Smith Hall has provided a tsunami of 

entertainment and carries on to this day. It was never a purpose built  cinema 

but it certainly provided a home for them in the infant days of film and when 

the last cinema closed its doors in 1980 – the Halls regularly showed films. 

Michael Beveridge's dream has certainly showed its worth in the town's 

history and it remains a bastion of entertainment to this day. 

 

     The King's Theatre/Opera House/The Hippodrome/Regal 

 
This is private enterprise on the march in terms of building theatres in the 

town. Both the Corn Exchange and the Adam Smith Halls were in the hands 

of the local authority. The King's Theatre  began life under the direction of 

R.C. Buchanan and his associates. Buchanan was a well-established 

theatrical Managing Director. 

 

The story of the King's begins with the sale of properties on Kirkcaldy's 

High Street which were covered by the Fife Free Press on the 21st March 

1903. An auction had taken place in the Town House on the 18th March to 

dispose of some old properties which the Council had acquired to widen the 

High Street allowing the rails for the tramway to be laid. Eleven sites were 

on offer and seven of these were purchased by J.L. Innes on behalf of clients. 

Innes's still function today in the guise of Innes Johnstone & Co., currently 

based on the Esplanade. The most important of these sites was on the High 

Street at its junction with Redburn Wynd. The article made it clear that the 

intention was to build a two tier theatre for a Glasgow syndicate whose 

Managing Director was the above mentioned R.C. Buchanan. The article 

advised that plans had already been drawn up by the joint architects, J.D. 

Swanston and William Williamson, both of Kirkcaldy. The theatre had 

already been christened  “The King's Theatre” - 

which was the first to carry this name in Scotland. 

The capacity of the theatre was to be around 2,000 

people and it was to be completed by the end of the 

year. Evidence that plans were already advanced 

comes in the shape of this advert seeking contractors 



to demolish the old buildings. 

 

The newspaper's journalist felt that this would be a very successful 

enterprise as bookings would be made in conjunction with another fifteen 

theatres spread over the country and in which Mr Buchanan had an interest. 

Some of those mentioned included the Grand, the Metropole and the 

Princess, all in Glasgow. Add to these the New Century in Motherwell and 

two New Gaiety Theatres  in Ayr and Leith. Each of the theatres would be 

included in the round of acts booked by Mr Buchanan. 

 

The principal entrance was to be from the High Street which would be 

elaborate and handsome with marble panelling. The first part of the staircase 

was to be the full width of the vestibule and on reaching the landing would 

split into three where one  stair went down to the stalls and the other two led 

up to the dress circle. The stalls would have accommodation for 200. The 

pit was immediately behind the stalls and the entrance would be from the 

corner of Redburn Wynd and was capable of accommodating 800. The 

second tier, or gallery, would have accommodation for 1,000, plus there 

would be 10 boxes on either side of the stage. The theatre would be fully lit 

by electricity which would include 600 lights and the cantilever style of 

architecture ensured a clear view for all. In the event of  fire it was estimated 

that the whole building could be evacuated in 2/3 minutes. We learn that a 

site at the Port Brae had also been purchased and we will read more of that 

later. The site would contain flatted houses with shops at ground level. The 

article noted that arrangements had already been made for three of the shop 

units which would be filled by a tobacconist, a confectioner and a 

photographer. 

 

At this stage we would draw attention to the fine blogs on 

our website where Tom Reid has covered the local body 

of work of both Williamson and Swanston. They present 

an excellent and authoritative summary of the work of two 

men who contributed much to Kirkcaldy's excellent 

architecture. It is well worth a visit. 

 

The Fife Free Press of Saturday the 4th April included a 

sketch of Mr Buchanan alongside confirmation of his 

appointment as Managing Director. The article described 

the sketch as a photo which in today's parlance it certainly 



is not. The anticipated accommodation figure appears to have risen to 2,400. 

 

The Fife Free Press of the 4th July reported that much rock was having to be 

removed to allow the foundations to be constructed and “heavy blasts” had 

been heard. The foundations had to go to a depth of 12 feet in some places. 

An English firm, Scofield and Hancox, had won the contract for the steel 

work and this alone amounted to £4,000. 

 

By the 11th July, when the plans were before the Dean of Guild Court, the 

capacity figure has risen to 3,000. That was just shy of double the capacity 

of the Adam Smith Hall. The  total cost was now estimated at between 

£20,000 and £30,000. 

 

It was not until the edition of the 19th November 

1904 that the Fife Free Press was able to cover the 

official opening of the building which was carried 

out by Mr John Barry of Barry, Ostlere & Shepherd 

on the 12th November. We very quickly learn that 

there were two firms involved in erecting the 

building – they were the West Regent Investment 

Company from Glasgow and the recently formed 

Kirkcaldy Theatre Company Ltd. It would seem that 

this method was a standard one for Buchanan. The construction would be 

carried out by the investment company and then floated off to local 

shareholders. While Buchanan retained the majority of the shares – these 

flotations offered local people a stake in their own theatre. The article now 

put the capacity as between 2,000 and 3,000 which hardly seems precise and 

the cost is given at £20,000. 

 

The ornate fibrous plaster ornamentation had been carried out by local 

sculptor – Mr A. Murdoch and an army of assistants both casting and fixing 

the mouldings in position. Some older readers may well remember a 

monumental sculptor, by the name of Murdoch whose premises were hard 

against the embankment at Abbotshall railway bridge close to where a gym 

is now situated. The assumption must be that this is the same man or his 

family. 

 

Barry gave an excellent speech where he remarked that - “the opening of 

this beautiful theatre marks a new era in the history of Kirkcaldy. We are a 



practical and hard working community. Much of our life is spent in a round 

of dry routine duty or hard manual recreation or amusement. Until now the 

people of Kirkcaldy have had very limited facilities for witnessing dramatic 

performances - an occasional company at the Corn Exchange or the Adam 

Smith Hall, or a rush over to Edinburgh on a Saturday night to see a play 

with the disagreeable necessity of leaving before the end of the last act and 

a wild helter-skelter to the station to catch the last train, or the alternative of 

stopping all night and that does not suit the pocket of everybody”. 

 

He went on to say that “this is now to be all changed, thanks to Mr Buchanan 

and his colleagues, the people of Kirkcaldy can come to a beautifully 

arranged theatre in their own town, can depend upon seeing good plays, 

good companies, perfect comfort – and all at a phenomenally low cost. For 

this valuable addition to our social amenities and comfort, I hope we are all 

duly grateful and that we will show our gratitude in a practical way by 

supporting the theatre by all the means in our power.” 

 

Mr Buchanan opened his remarks by 

apologising for the fact that the opening had 

been promised by the last New Year. To 

laughter he mentioned that they had found 

“the anticipation more pleasant than the 

expedient”. It then transpired that a 

Reverend Parry some years before had 

started concerts to try and take people off the streets and Mr Buchanan was 

a performer at many of these concerts. In time he “had the great honour of 

managing the Saturday Night Concerts for the Corporation”. He was at pains 

to stress the theatre was not competition but rather concerts in the Adam 

Smith Hall were mainly restricted to a Saturday night while his theatre was 

open every night of the week and he trusted that his acts would be worthy 

of the building in which they will be given. Interestingly enough this may 

well be factual as the Fife Free Press disclosed on the 12th September 1903 

that Mr Buchanan had been appointed by the Town Council to organise their 

own concert bookings for the following season. Clearly the new each other 

before the advent of the Kings. 

 

It was a matter of gratification to him that the Rev. Gardyne of St. Peter's 

Episcopal Church was in agreement that the town needed a theatre and in 

his opinion the theatres he had opened had been a source of good. This he 



claimed was the case in Falkirk  where after the opening of the Opera House 

– drunkenness and petty crime had dropped by 40%. His argument was that 

theatres were taking people off the streets thereby preventing antisocial 

behaviour. 

 

The opening was followed “by some stage dancing which was watched by 

many from their seats while others interested themselves by an examination 

of Kirkcaldy's latest; and certainly most wonderful public building”. 

 

A little research into the Kirkcaldy Theatre Company 

Ltd revealed that it was established in May 1904. The 

purpose was to carry on the business of the King's 

Theatre and Opera House. The majority of the names 

mentioned had no connection with Kirkcaldy but Mr 

Buchanan was amongst the signatories to the 

application. However, Mr E Batten, a linoleum 

manufacturer, whose address was given as Bennochy 

House Kirkcaldy was also named. We suspect that his 

business had been swallowed up in the formation of 

Barry Ostlere & Shepherd. The registered address of 

the company was 60 West Regent Street, Glasgow. The 

company was floated in June 1904 and the purchase 

price is to be £19,500 which of course is to be paid to 

the West Regent Investment Company. £15,000 was to be paid in cash with 

the residue by cash/shares or a combination thereof. It was also revealed that 

Buchanan held 201 shares in the West Regent Investment Company. The 

prospectus carried a valuation of the King's on completion of £19,500. 

 

For many years after, the local newspapers often carried advertisements for 

the sale of shares in the company – normally following the death of a holder 

and emanating from the deceased's solicitor. 

 

The opening performance is often regarded as Floradora 

which was featured on the 14th November and the 

advertisement is shown here. However, this is not strictly 

correct  as, prior to the official opening on the 12th, the Fife 

Free Press of the 19th November discloses that professional 

artists had appeared. There had been an invited audience 

numbering some 1,000 in attendance and prior to the 



official opening “a delightful musical programme, opening appropriately 

with  “God Save the King,” was ably carried through by the following 

professional artists:- Miss Essie Eunson, Mr J. Kirkwood-Campbell, Miss 

Baxter and an excellent Orchestra. 

 

In January 1905, for three nights, the 

play Sherlock Holmes was performed in 

the theatre. The advert has been traced 

but no cast members are named. 

However, it is believed that a young 

Charlie Chaplin was a member of the 

cast – prior to finding fame and fortune 

in Holywood. The play appears to be 

one written by William Gillette. Gillette 

was an American actor who played Homes on stage and in a 1916 silent film. 

 

However, the theatre struggled financially almost from the start with the 

result that it was wound up in 1908. It was exposed for sale in Glasgow and 

the Fife Free Press of the 8th February 

1908 reported that the theatre which 

had cost £19,500 to purchase had 

fetched only £7,000. The  

encyclopedic website of theatre – 

Arthur Lloyd.co.uk suggests that the theatre was bought by a Mr Abrahams 

of London and a Mrs Ellis of the Borough Theatre, Stratford. What is certain 

is that by the 16h March the theatre had been leased by an E.H. Bostock and 

also had a new name - the Hippodrome. That was the end 

of the Kirkcaldy Theatre Company Ltd. Messrs. Abrahams 

and Ellis were now the owners and Mr Bostock the lessee. 

 

There was a Grand Opening/Reopening Concert on the 

16th and this was under the patronage of two of Kirkcaldy's 

best known figures – Sir Michael B. Nairn, Bart., and 

Provost Munro Ferguson, M.P. Given it was under the 

patronage of Sir Michael it is no surprise that one half of 

the opening nights proceeds were to go to the Cottage 

Hospital. The programme, which is shown here, was an 

eclectic mix – with educated ponies and dogs, 

piccaninnies, the World's most extraordinary example of 



muscular perfection, comedy acrobats and a celebrated ventriloquist. Quite 

importantly, the Hippodrome Bioscope is mentioned – which is a generic 

term for an early movie camera. 

 

On Monday the 5th October 1908 the Prime Minister, Herbert Asquith, was 

presented with the Freedom of the Burgh in the Hippodrome. Once more 

monies were charged for some of the better seats with the proceeds again 

going to the Hospital. There was however a substantial number of free seats. 

It is interesting to note that women were not allowed in the gallery in case 

there was a display of Suffragette activity. This was the second time the 

theatre had been used for this purpose – two years, earlier in 1906, General 

William Booth of the Salvation Army has been similarly honoured. 

 

By March 1914 the name Hippodrome appears to have vanished 

and reverted to the Kings. An advertisement from the Fife Free 

Press of the 14th March shows the Resident Manager as Rupert G. 

Thompson – the point is that the advertisement covers a week, 

where on the Monday – Wednesday the latest films are being 

shown. On the Thursday to Saturday an Irish farce – General John 

Regan is a live event. This would suggest that whether theatre or 

film then the name King's Theatre is the one in use. 

 

Working backwards, quite by chance a sensational 

event was found. This was recorded in the Fife Free 

Press editions of the 7th and 14th June. The event was 

a film of what was described as the attack on the 

King's horse in the 1913 Derby – it was to show 

throughout the week. The masthead of the edition 

even carried an advert for the film. The following 

week, the 14th, one of the items on offer was a film of the funeral procession 

of  Emily Wilding Davison – who was described as the Derby Suffragette 

Martyr. 

 

The advertisement advised that the theatre is under new management and 

the whole auditorium had been thoroughly vacuum  cleaned. So, before and 

after this change of management the name remained the King's. This edition 

of the 14th does not disclose who the new owners are but we learn that the 

theatre is under the discriminating management of no less a name than Mr 

C. Lilforth Delph. 



 

A change of ownership and name took place in 1916. The Fife Free Press 

of Saturday the 16th  April revealed that the theatre had been taken over by 

the Kirkcaldy Picture House Company. The article confirms that the 

building had previously been leased to B.B. Pictures Ltd – suggesting Mr 

Bostock had moved on. The purchase was to be completed in March 1916 

with the sellers indeed being the aforementioned Abrahams and Ellis. The 

item is reproduced here. 

 

As always this led to more research and at last the Kirkcaldy Picture House 

Company were traced. The Fife Free Press of the 6th April 1916 led us to an 

official opening of what was termed  The Theatre – but, without question, it 

refers to the re-opening of the King's. A lunch was being held at the Station 

Hotel and the guest of honour was the famous motion picture actress – 

Florence Turner (Google her – she  is the real deal!). 

On arriving at the theatre it was found to be crowded by people seeking a 

glimpse of this heroine whom they had only glimpsed on the screen. 

 

Sir Robert Lockhart presided and on the platform 

were Miss Turner and the three company 

directors. All three were well known names – Mr 

Hutchinson, Alex Fraser and local accountant Mr 

King. Sir Robert declared that it meant much to 

the inhabitants that the largest theatre in the town 

was in the hands of three such respected local 

men. After Miss Turner made a speech and 

declared the theatre open – 

she was presented with a 

quaich by Mr T. MacKay – the theatre manager. The 

opening was brought to a conclusion with  the showing 

of The Welsh Singer featuring Miss Turner as Mifanwy. 

 

In the Fife Free Press of the 8th April 1916 – we find that 

the advertisements for the following week are indeed 

branded as The Theatre. The programme as befits the 

new owners is all film with no variety. T From here it 

gets very mysterious and some greater research will be 

needed. By Saturday the 2nd September 1916 the 

programme carried by the Fife Free Press has reverted 



to a variety bill although the Kirkcaldy Picture House Company are still 

shown to be the proprietors. The Fife Free Press advert for the 25th, 26th and 

27th is for a review by Fred Collins' Royal Bohemian Entertainers. The 

offering for the following week is the great Musical comedy success - Betty 

– no sign of any films! 

 

In the 14th October edition there is a 

short article advising that the name will 

now be the Opera House and that the 

new lessee is the aforementioned Fred 

Collins who has a Variety Agency in 

Glasgow. The first offering under his 

name is the John Ridding English 

Opera Company who will be appearing 

from the 21st. We also learn that New Year's day will see the start of a week 

long pantomime Jack and Gill. This is certainly no longer an exclusive 

cinema although the proprietors have not changed. 

 

This was still the case in February of 1917 but by the August advertisements 

show a note that The Opera House is now under the sole direction of Mr 

Fred Collins. He remains the lessee which suggests that he does not own the 

building but there is now a Manager listed – Mr J. Walker. 

 

Research reveals that a company had been formed in 

1924 by the name of Kirkcaldy Entertainments Ltd. 

This company is covered in greater detail in the 

section on the Port Brae Cinema. They had been 

established in 1924 to purchase a stable of cinemas in 

the town – The Opera House – The Palace and the Port 

Brae Cinema. What is interesting is that somewhere 

along the line The Kirkcaldy Picture House Company 

Ltd had sold the theatre – but when and where? This 

can be said with confidence as the prospectus states 

that the Vendors are the Scottish Cinema and Variety 

Theatres Ltd. There were a considerable number of 

enticements included in the prospectus. The sellers 

were a vehicle for the soon to be cinema mogul, John 

Maxwell – a solicitor by trade. While he was certainly 

part of the sellers he was also part of the purchasers – his name is the first 



on the list of Directors of the new venture. The prospectus is shown here to 

save referring to the next section. Soon the ABC grew from Maxwell's 

empire  and the Opera House was part of it. More on Maxwell in the next 

segment. By 1928 the Opera House was film only. 

 

However, by far the most important event to take place was 

commented on in the Fife Free Press of the 25th May 1929 

- “The Management have pleasure in announcing the 

Opera House is the first provincial cinema in Scotland to 

instal the most perfect and expensive system for the 

presentation of talking pictures known to the scientistic 

world” - It was to allow the  first talking picture to be 

screened in Kirkcaldy – Al Jolson in The Singing Fool. 

 

The name continued until 1937 as the Opera House. In that year a  

reconstruction had taken place and a significant one at that. The work to 

produce a modern streamline cinema was carried out by architect Charles 

McNair. 

 

The Fife Free Press of August the 14th 1937 

described the interior as “A splendidly 

equipped  and furnished cinema capable of 

seating two thousand has been fashioned out 

of the shell of the Opera House. (In January 

the Press had spoken of the theatre being 

taken back to the steel girders). One of the 

most important features 

was the installation of the 

most up to date sound 

system – The Mirrophonic System. The theatre was 

reopened on Monday the 23rd August by Provost James 

Wilson. It had a new name – The Regal. 

 

The Fife Free Press advert of the 21st August  for the 

opening event dwarfed all the other cinemas' adverts put 

together. The first film to be shown was Bing Crosby in 

Pennies from Heaven. Louis Armstrong was also included 

in the cast. The advert is reproduced here with  the text  

containing phrases such as;- an engineering wonder is the 



most apt description of the heating and ventilation plant and an atmosphere 

of dignified and entrancing beauty. It was also mentioned that you would be 

sitting on exquisitely upholstered seats. 

 

There was a name change to simply the A.B.C. and it was in 1974, with the 

destruction by fire of the Odeon, that what had began life as the King's and 

moved through so many changes of name and ownership was left as the last 

man standing. For this purpose we ignore the revamped Adam Smith Hall 

which was indeed showing film at that stage. 

 

There looked to be a bright future when it closed temporarily for conversion 

into a three cinema multiplex. The first cinema reopened in December 1977 

with seating for 547. the second and third opened in January  with 287 and 

235 seats respectively. A total of 1069 seats – a far cry from the glory days. 

 

In recent memory the A.B.C. Cinema Group passed to E.M..I. and then to 

Cannon in 1988. By 1993 it had become M.G.M. The next owner appears 

to be Richard Branson's Virgin Group when it was closed in 2,000. 

 

The venue was purchased by a commercial company with a plan to convert 

it to a pub and performance area. However, building consent was withdrawn 

and the complex was sold in 2005. Sadly, it remained empty and suffered 

from a lack of maintenance. It is listed but only the facade has this protection. 

 

In 2016 the building was purchased by the Kings Theatre Kirkcaldy Ltd with 

the intention of restoring the cinema and the Y.W.C.A. This has been 

successful in terms of the later which is now functioning but questions 

remain over the cinema itself. Despite a grant from the Theatres Trust to 

cover the building with a temporary roof  there is still much damage 

suffered/suffering to the interior. Only time will tell what its fate will be. 

 
              The Port Brae Picture House / Kirkcaldy Picture House 

 

Although universally known as the Port 

Brae Picture House it was under the title 

of Kirkcaldy Picture House Ltd that the 

Prospectus for the Company appeared in 

the Fifeshire Advertiser on the 9th 

November 1912. The main details are 



reproduced here and as can be seen the intention was to purchase ground at 

the Port Brae and erect an Electric Theatre. The plans had already been 

passed by the Dean of Guild. It can be seen that the two directors, Oswald 

Barclay and George MacGregor, are already involved in the Haymarket 

Picture House in Edinburgh. £4,000 is the sum sought with £3,500 in 

ordinary shares of £1 each. The usual style of the day for  payment was being 

applied – 5/- (25p) on application, followed by 5/- on allotment. The 

remaining sum would be paid in instalments which would be determined by 

the Directors but at not less than one month intervals. It is interesting to note 

that the solicitors are the previously mentioned  A & J.L. Innes – now a 

father and son partnership. The architect is shown as William Williamson – 

yes, he of the King's fame. 

 

The Kinematograph Weekly, on  the 8th 

May 1913,  reveals that the cinema will 

open in three weeks time and a Mr T.S. 

MacKay has been appointed manager. He 

was moving from the Edinburgh 

Olympia. The three weeks turned out to 

be ambitious in the extreme as it was not 

until the 29th October that Hon. Sheriff 

R.C. Lockhart performed the opening 

ceremony. There were a considerable 

number of dignitaries in the audience 

including the directors mentioned above. 

Mr Lockhart took time in his address to make mention of the huge changes 

already seen in the century – motor cars, aeroplanes and hydroplanes, were 

three of those mentioned. He made reference to the fact that not everyone 

wanted the cinema as some considered the films might have a detrimental 

effect on children. However, he believed that the films shown here were 

“above reproach” and that they would act as a counterbalance to public 

houses. He argued that attending the cinema was far better than “hanging 

around the High Street indulging in doubtful jokes and rough horse play”. 

Lockhart was especially proud of the fact it was “designed by a local 

architect and built by local labour”. Mr and Mrs Lockhart were presented 

with a silver coffee service to mark the occasion before a number of reels of 

films were shown. 

 

The cinema's very first advert is shown here and there were indeed 



continuous performances from 6.30 – 10.30 pm on 

weekdays and 3.30 until 10.30 pm on Saturdays. 

The cinema was not allowed to open on a Sunday – 

this had been determined by the Council in July 

1909. It was advertised as the best ventilated cinema 

in Fife – the air being changed every 6 minutes. The 

seats were priced at 2d, 4d, 5d and 9d. 

 

Almost immediately, a Matinee was organised by 

the town's two main newspapers towards a relief 

fund which they had established 

for the Welsh Mining Disaster. 

 

For interest, the programme for the following week which 

was included in the Fife Free Press on the 22nd November 

is reproduced here. The programme changed twice during 

the week – the first running from Monday to Wednesday 

and then a replacement on the Thursday to the Saturday. 

The strap line for all the shows proclaims it is Fife's 

Premiere Photo-Playhouse. 

 

In its review of the year published on the 27th December 1913 the Fifeshire 

Advertiser commented that “so far, this select hall, which is one of the 

present year's additions and improvements in Kirkcaldy, has proved very 

successful, more so, because the proprietors have achieved their aim to reach 

and satisfy the particular class of people they specifically cater for.  The 

interior of this superb building cannot fail to appeal to refined taste”. 

 

It would be a mistake to believe that only films were shown 

as, in the Fifeshire Advertiser of the 14th April 1914, a four act 

drama, The Four Million Dowry, was performed on the 

Monday to the Wednesday before film was restored on the 

Thursday. Examples such as this can be found at various times 

over the years the cinema was active. 

 

On  the 19th September 1914 the Advertiser has a far more 

sombre advert – it was filming by the cinema's own team of 

Kirkcaldy's Recruiting – Day by Day – this of course covers 

the outbreak of the First World War. Scenes from Lady 



Lockhart's funding activities were also shown. 

 

On the 14th November The Fife Free Press reported that on the Wednesday 

“four entertainments had taken place, during the afternoon and evening, in 

aid of the Red Cross Ambulance Fund with all being well attended and the 

final performance  packed to the rafters”. 

 

• The first showing took place at 2.30pm 

and was introduced by John Campbell, 

the Minister of the Parish Church. In 

his introduction he mentioned that two 

of his daughters were already at the 

front in the capacity of nurses. The 

principal entertainment was in the 

form of various films and we can not 

think other than it was the same films 

shown at each performance. As the 

advertisement shows here there were 

entertainments by live performers to 

go along with the films. 

 

• Councillor Garnock introduced the second performance at 4.30pm and 

his message suggests that the intention was to help fund a “Kirkcaldy 

Ambulance for the front”. 

 

• Dr. Crawford introduced the 6.30pm showing and his message was to 

seek  financial help for the Red Cross as well as the ambulance. 

 

• It was Provost Lockhart who rounded off the evening introducing the 

8.30pm showing. He fervently hoped that the war would come to a 

quick and satisfactory conclusion and that the least those at home 

could do was to raise money for the Red Cross and ambulances to ferry 

the wounded. Like so many of the time his message was that Belgium 

had to be protected from the brutal attack launched on it by Germany. 

Little did the Provost know that before the end of the conflict his own 

son would be one of the fallen. 

 

On Saturday the 29th May 1915, again via the Fifeshire Advertiser, we learn 

of the activities of the Kirkcaldy Citizenship Committee. The Council were 



hearing applications for the renewal of Cinema Licenses but before 

commencing they were met by a deputation from the Citizenship Committee 

led by the erstwhile  John D. Rose, the Rector of the High School. The 

Committee did not wish to see any renewals unless rules were introduced 

for the protection of minors. They sought to enforce:- 

 

• That the Magistrates, on receipt of two or three well founded 

complaints, should suspend wholly, or for some time at all events, the 

license of the hall in question. 

• That the presence of children under 14 years of age, after 6.30pm, 

should be strictly forbidden at cinematograph performances. 

• That free passes should be discouraged and only issued to a limited 

extent. 

• There should be no 'penny passes' to children as at present. 

 

Mr Rose was supported in his view by the Rev. Wm. Wylie of Pathhead E.U. 

Congregational Church. He went as far as demanding that every film shown 

should be the subject of censorship before being screened in Kirkcaldy. 

 

Lined up against the proposals were:- 

• Charles Wood for the King's Theatre and the Exchange Pavilion. 

• Mr MacKay himself for the Kirkcaldy Picture House. 

• David Hetherington for the Palace in Whytescauseway. 

• Mr Mackie from the Pathhead Picture House. 

 

 Their universal argument was that it was well-nigh on 

impossible for an attendant to differentiate children 

aged 12, 14 and 16, and that the onus should be on the 

parents. It was also argued that this was a restraint of 

trade and finally that they were beyond the powers of 

the 1909 Cinematograph Act, by which the only 

conditions which could be applied were ones which 

were related to a question of public safety. 

 

When asked if he had any specific instances which he 

could bring to the attention of the committee, Mr Rose 

made mention of Dante's Inferno which had been 

exhibited some weeks previously. He was also critical 

of A Pair of Silk Stockings which had been featured in 



the King's Theatre some weeks ago. It would be difficult to imagine Mr 

Rose's take on the offerings of the modern cinema. After some deliberation 

the Committee granted the renewals without any further conditions. 

Although a different time, and doubtless the Committee would be well 

meaning, there was something incongruous with such a report appearing 

amongst a tsunami  of obituaries of Kirkcaldy's fallen youth. That said, in 

fairness, life had to go on. 

 

During the war years there were any number of patriotic films shown woven 

in with those which transferred the audiences to the world of the silver 

screen. 

 

Saturday March the 22nd 1924 sees a change of ownership not just for this 

cinema but another two in the town as well. The Kirkcaldy   Entertainments 

Ltd. is being formed with the intention  of purchasing the Port Brae Cinema, 

The Palace in Whytescauseway, and also the Opera House in the High 

Street. £20,000 is being sought for this purpose by 

means of a share issue. The properties were in the 

hands of the Scottish Cinema and Variety 

Theatres Ltd. As the Prospectus demonstrates this 

is not quite a complete break from the previous 

ownership.. Two of the directors of the vendors 

are to be directors in the new concern. Added are  

three local men – James W. Duncan – a High 

Street stationer, James W. Milne – a building 

contractors and finally John W. Simpson – a 

timber contractor. The theory was that this 

flotation would give the people of Kirkcaldy the 

opportunity to share in the profits of the cinemas 

they patronise. There would be no change in the 

fact that the films would still be provided by the Scottish Cinema and Variety 

Theatre and the fact that two of that company’s Directors were involved in 

the new venture –  would “secure the continuance of the experienced 

management which has made the three halls successful and profitable 

enterprises”. If the flotation was not a success it was fully underwritten by 

the vendors – this was going to succeed! 

 

To attract shareholders it can be seen that there were generous incentives. 

Firstly, shareholders would receive a guaranteed dividend of at least 10% 



for three years. On top of that, if a shareholder wished to sell inside the initial 

three years they were guaranteed to receive at least par for each share. In 

effect, the price could fall to 50p on the open market and yet they would still 

get their purchase price back. The Prospectus indicated that plans were 

before the Dean of Guild Court for each of the three cinemas. In the Port 

Brae case it was to extend the capacity from 631 to about 1,400. 

 

On the same page and adjacent to the above mentioned advert was yet 

another prospectus – this time for the Kirkcaldy Kinetic Company. They 

were seeking to raise £15,000 to erect a cinema at 198-216 High Street. To 

be  precise the cinema would have an entrance from the High Street but, the 

cinema itself, would be sited behind the High Street buildings. More on this 

one later, but it was interesting to see James Bogie, the outfitter, listed as a 

director. Bogie's was a long standing High Street shop which was eventually 

taken over by Wilkie's – a  more recent casualty on the town's High Street. 

Bogie must have been something of an entrepreneur as, in 1938, he was 

Chairman of Raith Rovers F.C., as they won the Second Division Title 

scoring a British Record of 142 goals.  

 

It was in 1932 that sound came to the Port Brae Cinema but it was certainly 

not the boost which was probably hoped for. Sadly, sanction had not been 

given to extend as per the 1924 submission. The Council were still trying to 

determine what alterations were needed at the junction of the Esplanade and 

the Port Brae, so the cinema remained with seating for only 641 instead of 

1,400. The two major cinemas on the High Street were more ostentatious 

and sat a far greater audience. It is little wonder that it became the poor 

relation and went into decline. 

 

An application to instal sound 

equipment had been made in late 

1931. By January of 1932 an advert 

for Night Nurse indicates that sound 

had arrived. The film featured 

Barbara Stanwych but further down 

the cast list was Clark Gable. His 

role had originally been allotted  to 

James Cagney. However his 

success in Public Enemy made him 

a star therefore he could not play a supporting role – enter Clark! 



 

 In 1938 it was in the joint ownership of  Kirkcaldy Entertainments and the 

A.B.C.Group. It was perhaps little wonder that, that same year, the For Sale 

signs appeared. 

 

The notice is reproduced here and it 

shows that two firms of solicitors are 

involved. Maxwell, Waddell & Co 

are the firm of John Maxwell, one of 

the original directors when 

Kirkcaldy Entertainments Ltd were 

formed. The other is Clark, 

Hetherington from Kirkcaldy, who 

again featured in the initial 

prospectus. To enable potential 

buyers to view, the keys to the cinema could  be  obtained from Mr A.P. 

Casey, the Manager of the Regal. This all adds fuel to the belief that the 

owners did treat it as being well down the pecking order of their stable of 

picture houses in Kirkcaldy. 

 

John Maxwell, as mentioned above, was a solicitor but he is well worth 

investigating. He built a huge empire through his firm – Associated British 

Picture Corporation, which explains the joint ownership, and in 1938 was 

the owner of 502 cinemas. He died in 1940. 

 

Information is scant but it seems that it was indeed sold/let 

but nothing concrete could be traced. It has been suggested 

that it reopened as the Old Opera House before closing for 

good in early 1942. Scanning the 1941 entertainment pages 

of the Fife Free Press found no advertisement in this name. 

Every other cinema was advertising but  no sign  of the 

Port Brae. However,  an advertisement was unearthed from 

the Fife Free Press  in December of 1941 which showed 

the cinema being used as an exhibition centre for 

Kirkcaldy's Navy Week in January 1942. A target of 

£600,000 had been set for the town to raise in one week. 

With huge efforts, by the Friday night the total stood at 

£570,000 with a day to go. A fund 'thermometer' on the 

High Street was updated each evening. It seems a sad day 



when the cinema which had lain empty and unloved and was now only used 

from time to time as an exhibition centre. Given the phenomenal sum raised 

the week's programme had to be included. 

 

In March of 1943 the cinema was again used as an exhibition centre during 

Wings for Victory Week. This time the centre of attention was a Martlet  

Fighter Plane which seems to have been in use with the Fleet Air Arm. 

 

There is always the hope that something appropriate can be found to close a 

story. This time such an item was indeed located in the pages of the Fife 

Free Press of the 22nd April 1944. The item brought the sad tidings of the 

death of Amos P. Casey who, as mentioned above, had been the manager of 

the Regal Cinema and had lived in the town for over 30 years. The obituary 

advised that he had managed the Pavilion, the Palace, the Opera House, as 

well as the Port Brae Cinema. 

 

While he had been equally successful as a theatre 

or cinema manager his first love was the theatre 

and many of the top-line variety artistes and stage 

personalities were personally  known to him. It 

was with some regret that he had seen what he 

considered the legitimate art first of all threatened 

by motion pictures and then ousted from his theatre 

by the coming of films with sound. He was also 

something of a performer himself and took great 

pride in the fact that, some years earlier, he had 

secured a great success at a Glasgow charity concert with a “Larry Adler act” 

- only the older reader with know who Larry was and what he played. 

 

Finally he had two main interests – motorbikes and pigeon racing – guess 

where his loft was? The answer is - on the roof of  The Regal – wonder what 

the neighbours thought? 

 

Part two follows in April – when we look at what were generally termed 

purpose built cinemas. 
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